RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

04-15-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2019AP000224-CR Appeal No. 2019AP000225-CR Appeal No. 2019AP000226-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

JAMES A. JONES,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction and Order Partially Granting and Denying Postconviction Motion Entered in Outagamie County Circuit Court, the Honorable, Mark J. McGinnis Presiding

Circuit Court Case No. 2016CF000687 Circuit Court Case No. 2016CF000736 Circuit Court Case No. 2017CF000852

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

William J. Donarski State Bar No. 1021567 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Does §969.03(5) mandate that any bail money posted shall be returned, if the complaint against the defendant is dismissed, but also read-in?

The trial court answered: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Jones does requests publication of the opinion in this case. A published opinion in this case would help clarify the law regarding the use of bail money posted on a dismissed but read-in complaint. It also appears that this issue, is an issue of first impression.

However, the evidence is documentary in nature, and there is no dispute about what evidence was submitted, the issue presented is a question of law which is reviewed de novo by this court, and therefore, oral argument is not necessary nor requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 27, 2016, the Defendant-Appellant, James A. Jones, (hereinafter, Jones) was charged in Outagamie County case number 2016-CF-52 in a complaint in Count I of

Possession of Burglarious Tools, pursuant to §943.12 as a repeater and in Count II of Misdemeanor Receiving Stolen Property, pursuant to §943.34(1), as a repeater. [32:2]¹

The Complaint in 16-CF-52 alleged that on January 26, 2016, Jones was found in a suspicious vehicle with a woman, Maria C. The police observed Jones in possession of a crow bar, a medium sized screwdriver, bolt cutters, a hammer, and numerous license plates, along with two empty radio scanner boxes apparently recently stolen from Radio Shack and other suspicious merchandise. This resulted in charges for Possession of Burglarious tools and Concealing Stolen Property. [32:4] This case will be referred to as the Burglary Tools case.

On January 27, 2016, at an Initial Appearance, cash bond was set at \$2,500. This bond was posted on June 7, 2016 by Anna Alt [43:1-6; App.119-124]

On August 10, 2016, Jones was charged in Outagamie

County case number 2016-CM-761 in a complaint with a single

count of Misdemeanor Retail Theft pursuant to \$943.50(1m)(b)

as a repeater. [32:2] The Complaint in 16-CM-761 alleged

that on January 22, 2016, Jones entered a Radio Shack store,

and then shoplifted two empty radio scanner boxes and a

¹In an effort to make the citations to the record more clear, since many of the entries are from joint hearings, all citations will be to 16-CF-687, unless otherwise noted.

multi-meter valued at \$44.99. When Jones was arrested on the Burglary Tools case on January 26, 2016, the same empty radio scanner boxes were found in the car. [32:3-4] This misdemeanor retail theft case will be referred to as the Radio Shack case.

On August 10, 2016, Jones was also charged in Outagamie County case number 2016-CF-687 in a complaint with a single count of Felony Retail Theft pursuant to \$943.50(1m)(b) as a repeater. [2:1-4] The Complaint in this case alleged that on January 22, 2016, Jones entered a sporting goods store with his cohort, Anderson. Jones is alleged to have taken four game cameras worth almost \$2,000, while Anderson engaged the clerk and distracted them. This case will be referred to as the Game Camera case. Id.

Finally, on August 25, 2016, Jones was charged for a fourth time in Outagamie County case number 2016-CF-736 in a complaint with a single count of Burglary of a Building or Dwelling, pursuant to \$943.10(1m)(a) as a repeater, and as a Party to a Crime. [2:1-6; 16CF736] The Complaint in 16-CF-736 alleged that on January 12, 2016, Jones, along with two cohorts, Thor and Baumgartner, was alleged to have burglarized a Laundry that had gaming machines. They were alleged to have broken into the building, and then broken the fronts of several gaming machines and stolen the money

inside them. <u>Id.</u> This case will be referred to as the Laundry case.

An Initial Appearance on the last three cases was held on August 30, 2016. Bond was set at \$200 for 16-CM-761, and at \$500 for the 16-CF-687 case, and at another \$500 for the 16-CF-736 case. [53:5-7]

On September 27, 2016, the total bond of \$1,200, that is \$200 on 16-CM-761 and \$500 each on 16-CF-687 and 16-CF-736, was posted by a friend of Jones, Mr. Vincent Udo. [4:1-6; App.131-136 16CF736] Page 5 of that record citation (App.135) shows that even though the \$1,200 was paid in one sum, it was designated to each separate case. (See record citations for the Bail/Bond form in 16-CM-761 [45:1-6; App.12-130] and for the Bail/Bond form in 16-CF-687 [6:1-6])

The four cases proceeded for more than a year, mostly with joint hearings. On October 5, 2017, a plea bargain was reached, and Jones entered pleas. In 16-CF-687, the Game Camera case, he plead as charged to Felony Retail Theft, but without the repeater. In 16-CF-736, the Laundry case, the single charge of Burglary as a repeater was amended to three charges, Possession of Burglarious Tools, Felony Theft, and Misdemeanor Criminal Damage to Property, without any repeaters. In addition, 16-CF-52 and 16-CM-761 were dismissed and read-in. [64:2-5] In addition, new charges

were discussed, and part of the plea bargain was for Jones to plea and the DA would recommend a concurrent sentence on the new case. Id.

That new case was filed as Outagamie County case number 17-CF-852 on October 17, 2017, with a single felony count complaint for Operating a Motor Vehicle without Owner's Consent, pursuant to \$943.23(3). [2:1-3; 17CF852] A signature bond was ordered at the Initial Appearance on October 17, 2017. [4:1; and 30:1-9 17CF852] The Complaint in this case alleged that on December 15, 2016, Jones stole a pickup truck that the owner had left running but unattended to let it warm up. Two days later, it was crashed into a ditch. After Jones ran off, the passenger, Michelle, was found by the police and informed them that Jones had stolen the vehicle. This case will be referred to as the OMVOC case. [2:1-3 17CF852]

The cases proceeded to a combined sentencing on January 5, 2018. First, Jones entered pleas to the single count in 17-CF-852. [65:2-9] The three cases still remaining, 16-CF-687, 16-CF-736, and 17-CF-852, then proceeded to sentencing.

The court first inquired if there was any objection to the \$1,200 restitution claim in 17-CF-852, the OMVOC case, and there was no objection. With the surcharge, the total was \$1,320. [65:11] After the parties argued their

positions, the court sentenced Jones to 18 months IC plus 18 months ES on the single count of felony retail theft in 16-CF-687, the Game Camera case. [36:1-2; App.101-102] Jones also received 18 months IC plus 24 months ES on count I of 16-CF-736, the Laundry case, and imposed costs only on counts II and III. [34:1-2 16CF736; App.103-104] Finally, Jones was sentenced to 18 months IC plus 18 months ES on the single count in 17-CF-852, the OMVOC case. [14:1-2 17CF852; App.105-106] All sentences were consecutive to each other and to any other sentence. [65:34-35]

At the end of the hearing, the court also addressed the restitution request in the Game Camera case totaling \$2,199.96, and that was impliedly agreed to by the defense. [65:36] The court did not specify on the record that the bail money was to be used towards restitution, but it did require that Jones "pay court costs and supervision fees in a timely manner, and that you pay the restitution as requested." Id. There was no restitution claimed, nor ordered, in the two cases dismissed and read-in, i.e., the Burglary Tools case and the Radio Shack case.

Jones timely filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Post-Conviction Relief. [37:1] A Post-Conviction Motion was filed challenging the application of the bail money posted on the two dismissed and read-in cases, 16-CF-52 (Burglary

Tools) and 16-CM-761 (Radio Shack) to the restitution for the separate and distinct cases of 16-CF-687 (Game Camera) and 17-CF-852 (OMVOC). [39:1-6]

A hearing was held on the post-conviction motion on January 3, 2019. [66:1-49] The trial court denied the motion regarding the application of the bail money in a written order dated January 10, 2019. [50:1] The Trial Court ruled that:

I think that that gets answered, which leads us then to what I said originally. When I come back to 969.03(5), that statute is not clear on its face as to what happens in this case. I haven't studied the legislative history. I have taken a look at the cases that you have cited, Mr. Donarski, including the Powell unpublished decision, which I don't think has any weight and I am not giving it any way.

But I think given everything that's been said and everything that's been argued that it is appropriate and lawful and within the statute to allow restitution to be paid from a case where Mr. Jones had it dismissed and read in and that that case was part of a package deal that involved cases that led to convictions with restitution amounts due and owing.

That's exactly what happened in this case. It happened on January 5, 2018; and I think that that fits within the statute, namely, because it doesn't violate it. Cases were not dismissed. Mr. Jones was not acquitted of them. They were handled together in a joint effort and they were — It was appropriate to consider all of those cases and all parts of those cases at the time of sentencing.

[65:46-47; App.117-118]

The trial court did partially grant relief by ordering

the restitution owed in 16-CF-687, the Game Camera case, to be joint and several with the co-defendant, Anderson. That issues is not on appeal.

This appeal followed with a timely Notice of Appeal, filed on January 23, 2019. By order of this court, dated 3/7/2019, the several appeals at issue were consolidated for the purpose of briefing and Decision.

Further reference to the record and facts will be provided as needed in the argument.

ARGUMENT

I. Because Wis. Stat. §969.03(5) Requires
That Any Bail Money Posted Be Returned
When a Complaint Is Dismissed, the Trial
Court Erred When it Ordered the Bail
Money from Two Cases That Were Dismissed
but Read-in to Be Applied to Restitution
and Costs in Distinct and Unrelated
Cases.

The trial court ruled at the post-conviction motion hearing that it was satisfied that because the charges in 16-CF-52 (Possession Burglary Tools case) and 16-CM-761 (Radio Shack case) were not acquitted and not dismissed outright, but were dismissed and read-in, that the statutory language in §969.03(5) allowed the bond money posted in those two cases to be used for distinct and unrelated cases.

A. Standard of Review

Jones' argument is essentially that the plain language of the statutes controls the disposition of bond monies.

Therefore, this is a case of statutory construction. This court revues statutory construction *de novo*. State v. Cole, 2000 WI App 52, ¶3, 233 Wis.2d 577, 608 N.W.2d 432.

In <u>State v. Braunschweig</u>, 2018 WI 113, ¶¶ 12-14, ___ Wis.2d ___, __ N.W.2d ___, the Wisconsin Supreme Court reiterated that the first place to look is the language of the Statute. It stated:

¶12 We begin our analysis with a review of the language of the statutes. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "[T]he purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." Id., ¶44. If the meaning of the statute is plain, we ordinarily stop the inquiry and give the language its "common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." Id., ¶45.

¶13 Context and structure of a statute are important to the meaning of the statute. Id., ¶46. "Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id. Moreover, the "[s]tatutory language is read where possible to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage." Id. "A statute's purpose or scope may be readily apparent from its plain language or its relationship to surrounding or closely-related statutes—that is, from its context or the structure of the statute as a coherent whole." <u>Id.</u>, ¶49.

 $\P14$ "If this process of analysis yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, then there is no ambiguity, and the statute is applied according to

this ascertainment of its meaning." $\underline{\text{Id.}}$, ¶46. If statutory language is unambiguous, we do not need to consult extrinsic sources of interpretation. $\underline{\text{Id.}}$ "Statutory interpretation involves the ascertainment of meaning, not a search for ambiguity." $\underline{\text{Id.}}$, ¶47.

Jones argues that the plain language of §969.03(5) clearly mandates that since the case at issue was dismissed, and there was no judgment of conviction entered, the entire sum deposited shall be returned. Jones argues that a dismissed and read-in case is still dismissed. The essence of the argument is whether the phrase in §969.03(5) that "If the complaint against the defendant has been dismissed ... the entire sum shall be returned" also applies when the complaint against the defendant has been dismissed but read-in. Jones argues that, at least for the purpose of \$969.03(5), that there is no difference between "dismissed and read-in" and "dismissed", since the bottom line is that the case was still dismissed.

B. For the Purpose of §969.03(5) a Dismissed and Read-In Complaint is Still a Dismissal.

In the two dismissed and read-in cases, 16-CF-52 (Burglary Tools case) and 16-CM-761 (Radio Shack case), monies were posted for bail. However, the complaints in those cases were dismissed and there was no judgment of conviction in those cases. However, the court applied those monies to restitution in two other distinct and unrelated

cases. The only connection between those cases, besides

Jones being the defendant, was that they were handled at the
same time for the convenience of the court.

First, it is absolutely clear in the case law and the statutes, that there is no admission of guilt by the defendant when a charge is dismissed and read-in. In the concurrence in State v. Sulla, 2016 WI 46, ¶¶54-68, 369 Wis.2d 225, 880 N.W.2d 659, Justice Ann Walsh Bradley goes through the history of the concept of read-in offenses. This history starts with English Common Law and discusses how over time in Wisconsin there were cases that assumed that there was an admission by the defendant for read-ins. Id., at $\P958-61$. However, the legislative history of §973.20(1q)(b) makes clear that there is no admission by the defendant. Id., at ¶¶62-64. The original draft of this statute contained the language "'Read-in crime' means any crime that is uncharged that the defendant admits to having committed..." Id., at ¶62. However, the Department of Justice objected to that definition, and proposed the language that was eventually adopted. <u>Id.</u>, at ¶63, n.2.

Wis. Stat., §973.20(1g)(b) reads:

"Read-in Crime" means any crime that is uncharged or that is dismissed as part of a plea agreement, that the defendant agrees to be considered by the court at the time of sentencing and that the court considers at the time of sentencing the defendant for the crime for which the defendant was convicted.

The plain language of this statute shows that the crime is dismissed. It doesn't say it has any special status of dismissed. It is simply dismissed. Therefore, since the entire complaint in those two cases was dismissed, \$969.03(5) requires that the bail monies shall be returned.

The difference between a crime that was "dismissed" and a crime that was "dismissed and read-in" was further discussed in the case of State v. Frey, 2012 WI 99, 343
Wis.2d 358, 817 N.W.2d 436. This case dealt with the issue of whether the sentencing court could consider charges that were dismissed outright when determining an appropriate sentence. As noted above, \$973.20(1g)(b) makes it clear that the court can consider dismissed and read-in charges at sentencing. Frey argued that meant the court could not consider charges that were dismissed outright. The Frey court ruled that "For purposes of sentencing, this opinion makes no distinction between charges that are 'dismissed' and charges that are 'dismissed outright.' For sentencing they are exactly the same." Id., at ¶41.

The <u>Frey</u> case makes clear that a charge that is dismissed and read-in is still dismissed. The only two characteristics of a charge that is dismissed and read-in from a charge that is dismissed outright is that for a read-

in the defendant can not be prosecuted in the future, but is subject to owe restitution, if any is owed on the read-in charge, whereas charges dismissed outright are not subject to restitution, but might be prosecuted in the future. Id., at ¶43. The Frey court makes this even more clear later in the opinion. "The promise by the prosecutor not to prosecute the read-in charges in the future is an essential component to a read-in." Id., at ¶72. The second component of the read-in charge is then listed. "In exchange for this benefit, the defendant exposes himself to ... the additional possibility of restitution for the offenses that are 'read-in'. Wisconsin Stat. §973.20 requires that the sentencing judge order partial or full restitution for the crime for which a defendant was convicted and for any read-in crime." Id., at ¶73 (emphasis in original).

\$973.20 makes it clear that a defendant is subject to a restitution order for any restitution owed for the read-in charge. \$969.03(4) makes it clear that the bail money deposited in any case that results in a judgment of conviction is applied to restitution for the case resulting in the judgment of conviction and for any restitution owed on any read-in cases.

There is no dispute that bail money can be applied from a case that resulted in a conviction to be paid on

restitution owed on a dismissed and read-in case. But, the statute does not authorize it to work in the other direction. \$939.03(4) requires as a prerequisite to using the bail money that "a judgment of conviction is entered in a prosecution in which a deposit has been made..." In Jones case, there was no judgement of conviction in the Burglary Tools case nor in the Radio Shack case, because they were both dismissed, so the bail money deposited in those two cases can not be used to pay restitution in any other cases.

The trial court discussed the issue of whether there was one "prosecution" of Jones or five or six prosecutions of Jones at the postconviction motion hearing. [66:15; 28-31] Jones argues that each case is a separate "prosecution" because each case stands on its own. It makes no difference that they are handled together for the convenience of the court or the parties. Each case has its own separate Complaint, and its own separate case number, and for felonies, its own separate Information. Each case gives the defendant its own separate procedural rights, including separate rights to substitute on the judge, and the setting of bond on each separate case. If all of the cases were just one single "prosecution", when bond was set on a new case, the court would not set it separately, but would just add to the bond originally imposed.

The separate prosecution of each case is also shown when a defendant enters a plea on each case and charge separately. But, the defendant also has the right to plead guilty to one case, while pleading not guilty on the other cases, which then remain on the trial track.

The separate prosecution of each felony case gives the defendant the right to have a preliminary hearing where probable cause must be established for each separate case. If all the cases against a defendant pending at the same time were handled as just one "prosecution", then the finding of probable cause that a felony had been committed in one case would allow all of the pending cases to be bound over for trial, like they can be for multiple related felonies in a single case. But that is not allowed if they are charged as separate cases.

Each case pending against a defendant at the same time must be its own prosecution, or else there would be no need to ever make a motion for joinder under \$971.12. Each separate case would have its own separate trial, unless they were properly joined under the statute. Each separate case has its own witness lists, its own separate jury instructions, its own separate pre-trial motions and rulings, its own separate evidentiary issues. Finally, each separate case has its own verdict, and its own separate

sentence and its own separate calculation of sentence credit. If the five or six cases considered at sentencing for Jones were just one "prosecution", the court could issue just one global sentence and have just one judgment of conviction. Of course, the trial court entered a separate sentence for each charge, and a separate judgment of conviction for each case, clearly showing these were not just one "prosecution".

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