## **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-11-2019

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case Nos. 2019AP224-226-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES A. JONES,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN OUTAGAMIE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK J. MCGINNIS, PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

ROBERT G. PROBST Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1063075

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Jones does not have standing to challenge how Outagamie County allocates bail/bond monies posted by another person.

### A. Applicable legal principles

This Court may affirm a circuit court's decision on alternative grounds. *State v. Holt*, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 124, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985), *superseded on other grounds by statute* ("It is well-established that if a trial court reaches the proper result for the wrong reason, it will be affirmed."). Here the issue of standing is not raised below, but this Court may still affirm on that basis. *Id*.

"[T]he essence of the determination of standing" has three components. Foley-Ciccantelli v. Bishop's Grove Condominium Ass'n, Inc., 2011 WI 36, ¶ 40, 333 Wis. 2d 402, 797 N.W.2d 789. Standing depends on "(1) whether the party

whose standing is challenged has a personal interest in the controversy . . . (2) whether the interest of the party whose standing is challenged will be injured," and "(3) whether judicial policy calls for protecting the interest of the party whose standing is challenged." *Id.* ¶ 40.

# B. Jones lacks standing to challenge the clerk's distribution of bail/bond monies he did not pay.

Jones challenges the Outagamie County clerk's allocation of bail/bond monies paid by his mother and V.U. toward his restitution order. (Jones's Br. 2–4.)

But because Jones did not post the bail/bond monies at the heart of this appeal, he (1) does not have a "personal interest" in their return, (2) was not injured by the circuit court's decision denying his postconviction motion on the issue, and (3) has no interest that this Court need protect. *Foley-Ciccantelli*, 333 Wis. 2d 402, ¶ 40. For these reasons, Jones does not have standing.

First, Jones did not pay the bail/bond monies, so he is seeking to vindicate the right of other persons not party to this appeal. Thus, by definition, Jones does not have a "personal stake" in the controversy. *Foley-Ciccantelli*, 333 Wis. 2d 402, ¶ 40.

Second, for the same reason, Jones was not adversely affected by the clerk's use of the bail/bond monies to pay his restitution orders. *See Foley-Ciccantelli*, 333 Wis. 2d 402, ¶ 40. Indeed, if anything, Jones actually *benefited* from the circuit court's denial of his motion because it means the bail/bond monies posted by others goes toward his restitution obligations, thereby lessening his own obligations.

Finally, judicial policy does not favor Jones's claim. *See Foley-Ciccantelli*, 333 Wis. 2d 402, ¶ 40. Jones is not the individual who should be seeking return of the bail bond monies. Instead, if anyone has a meritorious claim regarding the distribution of the bail/bond monies, it is the persons who posted them, who are now deprived of their money.

Thus, rather than attempting to graft those individuals claims onto a postconviction motion in Jones's direct appeal from his criminal convictions, the better policy would be for the aggrieved individuals themselves to seek redress before the Outagamie circuit courts through a replevin or small claims action. See e.g., Wis. Stat. § 799.01(1)(c) (small claims procedure applicable to replevin actions under \$10,000).

This Court should conclude that Jones does not have standing to challenge the allocation of bail/bond monies that were not actually paid by him. It should reject Jones's appeal without further consideration on the merits for that reason.

# II. The circuit court properly interpreted and applied Wis. Stat. §§ 969.03(4)–(5) (bail monies) and 973.20 (restitution) to Jones.

## A. Applicable legal principles and statutes

Statutory interpretation and application. Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute. Wiskerchen, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 20 (citing State ex. rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110). "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning. Id.

"If the words chosen for the statute exhibit a 'plain, clear statutory meaning,' without ambiguity, the statute is applied according to the plain meaning of the statutory terms." *Wiskerchen*, 385 Wis. 2d 120, ¶ 20 (citation omitted). A reviewing court "assume[s] that the legislature's intent is expressed in the statutory language." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 44.

"Statutory purpose is important in discerning the plain meaning of a statute." Westmas v. Creekside Tree Service, Inc., 2018 WI 12, ¶ 19, 379 Wis. 2d 471, 907 N.W.2d 68 (citing Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 48). "[S]tatutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. Therefore, in construing a statute, an appellate court "favor[s] a construction that fulfills the purpose of the statute over one that defeats statutory purpose." Westmas, 379 Wis. 2d 471, ¶ 19.

Finally, another important rule of statutory construction is that, "where a statute with respect to one subject contains a given provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject is significant in showing that a different intention existed." State v. Welkos, 14 Wis. 2d 186, 192, 109 N.W.2d 889 (1961).

Relevant bail/bond statutes. Wisconsin Stat. § 969.03(1) addresses the pre-trial release of a person charged with a felony. *Id.* The statute offers a circuit court with several options, including "requiring the execution of an appearance bond . . . which will assure appearance for trial." *Id.* To that end, under Wis. Stat. § 969.03(1)(d), a court may

"[r]equire the execution of an appearance bond with sufficient solvent sureties, or the deposit of cash in lieu of sureties."

"If the judge requires a deposit of cash in lieu of sureties, the person making the cash deposit shall be given written notice of the requirements of [969.03](4)." Wis. Stat. § 969.03(1)(d).

Under Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4),

If a judgment of conviction is entered in a prosecution in which a deposit had been made in accordance with [969.03](1)(d), the balance of the deposit, after deduction of the bond costs, shall be applied first to the payment of any restitution ordered under s. 973.20 and then, if ordered restitution is satisfied in full, to the payment of the judgment.

However, under Wis. Stat. § 969.03(5), "[i]f the complaint against the defendant has been dismissed or if the defendant has been acquitted, the entire sum deposited shall be returned. A deposit under [969.03(1)(d)] shall be returned to the person who made the deposit, his or her heirs or assigns, subject to [969.03](4)." *Id.* Thus, if a defendant's complaint is dismissed or he or she is acquitted of the charges, the cash bail is returned to the person who posted it in full.

Though Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) uses the term "prosecution," that term is not defined in the statute, or in any related statutes that might clarify the word's meaning.

As Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) expressly contemplates, restitution toward crime victims is given priority over all other payments. "[T]he balance of the deposit . . . shall be applied first to the payment of any restitution . . . and then, if order restitution is satisfied in full, to the payment of the judgment." *Id*.

Wisconsin's restitution statute and crimes where restitution may be ordered. The primary purpose of Wis. Stat. § 973.20, Wisconsin's restitution statute, is "to compensate the victim." State v. Madlock, 230 Wis. 2d 324, 332, 602 N.W.2d 104 (Ct. App. 1999). The statute "reflects a strong equitable public policy that victims should not have to bear the burden of losses if the defendant is capable of making restitution." State v. Canady, 2000 WI App 87, ¶ 8, 234 Wis. 2d 261, 610 N.W.2d 147 (citing Madlock, 230 Wis. 2d at 332). For this reason, Wisconsin courts have repeatedly held that "restitution is the rule and not the exception," and "should be ordered whenever warranted." Id. (citation omitted).

In light of this important public policy, courts should "construe the restitution statute 'broadly and liberally in order to allow victims to recover their losses as a result of a defendant's criminal conduct." *Madlock*, 230 Wis. 2d at 332 (citation omitted).

Thus, Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r) requires that the sentencing court order the defendant to pay restitution to any victim of a crime considered at sentencing... unless the court finds substantial reason not to do so and states the reason on the record." If a crime considered at sentencing resulted in a loss of property, courts are authorized to pay the victim either the replacement cost or the property's value. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(2)(b).

A "crime considered at sentencing" means the crime of conviction "and any read-in crime." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1g)(a) (emphasis added). A "read-in crime" is a crime that meets three criteria: (1) it is uncharged or is "dismissed as part of a plea agreement"; (2) the defendant agrees that it will be

considered at sentencing, and; (3) the court considers it at the time of sentencing. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1g)(b).

Under Wis. Stat. § 973.20, "there is a distinction between dismissed charges that the defendant agrees to have read in (read-ins) and dismissed charges that are not read in (dismissed charges)." *State v. Frey*, 2012 WI 99, ¶ 43, 343 Wis. 2d 358, 817 N.W.2d 436.

"Read-in charges are acknowledged as true and are subject to restitution. They may not be prosecuted separately in the future." *Frey*, 343 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 43. "Dismissed charges may be considered by the court in sentencing, but they are not subject to restitution." Id. "Thus, when the State and a defendant agree that charges will be read in, those charges are expected to be considered in sentencing." Id. ¶ 68.

# B. The circuit court properly interpreted Wis. Stat. §§ 969.03(4)–(5) and 973.20 in rejecting Jones's claims.

Jones argues that Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) and (5) do not provide statutory authority to allocate bail/bond monies paid on dismissed but read-in charges toward restitution ordered under another charge resulting in conviction. (Jones's Br. 10.)

But Jones's argument ignores the amendments made to Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4), which were created with the express purpose of adding that ability while clarifying that restitution towards victims comes before any other payment or repayment. Wisconsin Stat. § 969.03(4), as it was amended in 2005, is consistent with both the other relevant statutes and specific warnings in the bail/bond forms and plea questionnaire/wavier of rights form signed by Jones. (See R. 28:2; 43:1; 45:1.)

Jones's argument further hinges on his interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4)–(5). He contends that, because the counts for which restitution was ordered were dismissed but read in, the language of Wis. Stat. § 969.03(5) controls. (See id. ("If the complaint . . . has been dismissed or if the defendant has been acquitted, the entire sum deposited shall be returned.")). According to Jones, Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) does not apply here because a judgment of conviction was not entered for the charges that were dismissed but read in. (Jones's Br. 10–13.) Jones wrongly asserts that the term "prosecution" in Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) means only a single case or count, even though all of his charges were resolved via a global plea agreement and proceeded to sentencing as a singular entity. (Jones's Br. 14–18.) Jones's argument fails for multiple reasons.

- 1. The revision to Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) following this Court's decision in *Cetnarowski* supports an interpretation of "prosecution" that includes read-in offenses.
  - a. Old Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) and this Court's interpretation of it in Cetnarowski

Before the enactment of 2005 Wis. Act 447 and amendment of Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) to its current form, this Court addressed the issue of whether a circuit court possessed the statutory authority to use bail/bond monies not paid by the defendant to pay the defendant's restitution order. *State v. Cetnarowski*, 166 Wis. 2d 700, 710, 480 N.W.2d 790 (Ct. App. 1992).

In *Cetnarowski*, the circuit court ordered that bail/bond monies posted by the defendant's grandmother could be used to pay the defendant's restitution obligations. *Cetnarowski*, 166 Wis. 2d at 704–05. The circuit court reasoned that, because restitution is an equitable action, it "should be examined in light of who has the best equitable position among the defendant, innocent victims, and the person who has posted bail." *Id.* at 705. In the circuit court's view, "the innocent victims [were] in the best equitable position because they sustained losses and [the defendant's] grandmother could seek reimbursement from [the defendant] himself." *Id.* At the time, then-Wis. Stat. § 969.03(1)(d) contained no mention of restitution. *Id.* 

This Court reversed the circuit court's order. *Cetnarowski*, 166 Wis. 2d at 705. It concluded that the circuit court's order was "without reference to authority." *Id.* This Court discussed the text of then-Wis. Stat. § 969.03(1)(d), which stated only that "[i]f a judgment for a fine or costs or both is entered, any deposit of cash shall be applied to the payment of the judgment." *Id.* at 710 (emphasis omitted).

As this Court noted, "[i]n drafting chs. 969 and 973, the legislature had the opportunity to include restitution, together with fines and costs, as expenses that would reduce the amount of a bail refund; however, it did not." *Cetnarowski*, 166 Wis. 2d at 710. Thus, this Court "deem[ed] such an omission as an intentional exclusion of the use of bail as restitution." *Id.* As this Court wrote, "[t]he legislature . . . did not explicitly enable a sentencing court to order cash bail to be applied to restitution in its comprehensive statutory restitution provisions." *Id.* 

# b. Changes to the statutory language in Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) after Cetnarowski

In 2005, the Legislature amended the statutory language in Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) to give circuit courts the authority to use bail/bond monies to pay a defendant's restitution obligations. 2005 Wis. Act 447; (R-App. 101–02.)

2005 Wisconsin Act 447 amended Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) to read: "the balance of the deposit . . shall be applied *first* to the payment of *any restitution* order under s. 973.20 and then, if ordered restitution is satisfied in full, to the payment of the judgment." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Therefore, since June 6, 2006, when 2005 Wisconsin Act 447 went into effect, Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4) specifically authorizes using bail/bond monies to pay *any restitution orders first*, before any other costs.

Following this change by the Legislature in 2005, not only is payment of a defendant's restitution obligations from bail/bond monies posted by someone else explicitly authorized by statute, but that use is the first obligation that must be satisfied. See Wis. Stat. § 969.03(4).

Further, the Legislature specifically selected the phrase "any restitution" in amending the bond statute, so the statutory language contemplates that bail/bond monies be used to pay any restitution orders incurred by a defendant without limitation. *Cf. Westmas*, 379 Wis. 2d 471, ¶ 19 (citation omitted) ("Statutory purpose is important in discerning the plain meaning of a statute").

Moreover, the Legislature's use of the word "any restitution order" reflects a legislative judgment that bail/bond monies may be paid toward any restitution order in a broader resolution, not just those to which a defendant like Jones specifically pleaded guilty.

2. The Legislature's use of the word "prosecution," as opposed to "case," supports an interpretation of "prosecution" that includes read-in offenses.

The Legislature's use of the word "cases" in Wis. Stat. § 969.03(2) also supports the circuit court's interpretation. Wis. Stat. § 969.03(2) says that, "[a]s a condition of release in all cases, a person released under this section shall not commit any crime."

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